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Second Amended Complaint 

Michael A. Hirst, Esq.
Leslie S. Guillon, Esq.
HIRST & CHANLER LLP
455 Capitol Mall, Suite 605
Sacramento, CA 95814
Tel: (916) 443-6100
Fax: (916) 443-6700

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Alexi Zuniga, Jacquelyn  Malcomb
and James Mamula 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ALEXI ZUNIGA, JACQUELYN MALCOMB,
and JAMES MAMULA, 

Plaintiffs,

v.

CHUGACH ALASKA CORPORATION,
CHUGACH MANAGEMENT SERVICES,
INC., MEL LYNCH, MICHAEL COWART,
TOBY COWART, LORI FROST, and RICK
TATE,

Defendants.

1:06-CV-0048 AWI-GSA

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

 

Plaintiffs Alexi Zuniga, Jacquelyn Malcomb, and James

Mamula, through their attorneys Hirst & Chanler LLP, and based

upon personal knowledge, relevant documents, and information and

belief, allege as follows:

I. NATURE OF THIS ACTION

1. This action alleges that Defendants Chugach Alaska

Corporation, Chugach Management Services, Incorporated (hereafter

collectively “Chugach”), and defendants Michael Cowart, Toby

Cowart, Lori Frost and Mel Lynch (hereafter collectively “the

Exhibit A
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2Second Amended Complaint

individual Defendants”) caused damages to plaintiffs Alexi

Zuniga, Jacquelyn Malcomb and James Mamula arising from

plaintiffs' employment termination.   Plaintiffs allege that the

Defendants' conduct constitutes: (1) tortious discharge in

violation of public policy; (2) wrongful termination in violation

of the California Labor Code; (3) retaliation against plaintiffs

in violation of the False Claims Act; (4) breach of an implied

covenant of good faith and fair dealing; and (5) breach of

plaintiffs' employment contract.

2. Based on Defendants' wrongful conduct, plaintiffs seek

to recover all damages, including punitive damages, for the

violations alleged herein. 

II. PARTIES

3. Plaintiff Alexi Zuniga (“Zuniga”) is a resident of

South Dakota.  Zuniga was employed as a tile setter with

Defendant Chugach from September 2002 until March 2004, when he

was wrongfully terminated.  

4. Relator Jacquelyn Malcomb (“Malcomb”) is a resident of

Lancaster, California.  Malcomb was employed as lead dispatcher

with Defendant Chugach from August 2001 until March 2004, when

she was wrongfully terminated.  

5. Relator James Mamula (“Mamula”) is a resident of

California City, California.  Mamula was employed with Defendant

Chugach as grounds supervisor from September 2002 until November

2003, when he was wrongfully terminated. 

6. Defendant Chugach Alaska Corporation is an Alaskan

Corporation with its principal place of business located at 3800

Centerpoint Drive in Anchorage, Alaska.  Chugach Alaska
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Corporation consists of seven subsidiaries, including Chugach

Management Services, Inc., and several joint ventures with over

5,000 employees worldwide.

7. Defendant Chugach Management Services Incorporated

(“CMSI”), a subsidiary of Chugach Alaska Corporation, is an

Alaskan corporation, with its principal place of business, like

Chugach Alaska Corporation, located at 3800 Centerpoint Drive in

Anchorage, Alaska.

8.  At all times relevant herein, Defendant Mel Lynch

(“Lynch”) was employed by Chugach as President of CMSI and worked

in CMSI’s principal office in Anchorage, Alaska.  Mel Lynch is

also Vice President of Operations for Chugach Alaska Corporation. 

 9.  At all times relevant herein, Defendant Michael Cowart

was employed by Chugach as Operations Manager and worked for

Chugach under its contract at Edwards Air Force Base (hereafter

“Edwards AFB” or “AFB”) in Lancaster, California.  

10.  At all times relevant herein, Defendant Toby Cowart was

employed by Chugach as Project Administrator and worked for

Chugach under its contract at Edwards AFB in Lancaster,

California.  

11.  At all times relevant herein, Defendant Lori Frost

(“Frost”) was employed by Chugach as Human Resource Officer and

worked for Chugach under its contract at Edwards AFB in

Lancaster, California.  

12.  At all times relevant herein, Defendant Rick Tate

(“Tate”) was employed by Chugach as Grounds Supervisor and worked

for Chugach under its contract at Edwards AFB in Lancaster,

California.   
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  13. At all times relevant herein, the Defendants served as

employees, agents, and/or representatives of one and another, and

were acting within the course, scope and authority of such

employment, agency, and representation for the conduct complained

of herein. 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

14. Defendants removed the original complaint in this

action to federal court and contend that the Court has

jurisdiction.  This Court also has jurisdiction over the subject

matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 31 U.S.C.

§ 3732, the latter of which specifically confers jurisdiction on

the Court under 31 U.S.C. § 3730. 

15. Personal jurisdiction and venue are proper in this

district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391, 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a), and

31 U.S.C. § 3730(h)(2).  

IV. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

16. At all times relevant herein, Defendant Chugach held

the military family housing maintenance contract, number F04611-

00-D-0047 (“the contract”), for the facilities located at Edwards

AFB.  Chugach's responsibilities under the contract included

services for maintenance and repair of family houses and

apartments, grounds maintenance, maintenance management,

equipment maintenance, and appliance management, among other

duties. 

V. ALLEGATIONS

17. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege as

though fully set forth herein paragraphs 1 - 17.

//
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A. FRAUD COMMITTED BY DEFENDANTS

18. Throughout the course of providing services under the

contract, beginning in approximately 2001, Defendant Chugach and

the individual Defendants engaged in a pattern of fraudulent

conduct and retaliation against plaintiffs, including but not

limited to the matters set forth below.

19.  Defendants knowingly ordered excess items and goods

under the contract with the intention of having the United States

pay for the items.  Defendants submitted false claims to the

United States and the items were paid for by the United States,

but the items were used in Defendants’ private homes or sold off-

base by Defendants.  Examples of such stolen items include, but

are not limited to, lawn mowers, refrigerators, ceiling fans,

carpet, washing machines, dryers, power tools, floor tile, and

plumbing and lighting fixtures. 

20.  When the goods fraudulently ordered by Defendants

arrived at Edwards AFB, the items were either taken off-base or

kept in a warehouse for Defendants’ later personal use. 

Defendant Chugach knew that its employees, including supervisors

and managers, were ordering additional supplies and goods in

excess of what was necessary under the contract, having the

United States pay for the goods, and stealing the items for

personal use.

21. Often, the items were ordered by Chugach employee

Tracey Brock, employed in the supply department, after obtaining

approval from her supervisors, including Mike Cowart, the

Operations Manager, Toby Cowart, the Project Administrator, Rick

Tate, the Grounds Supervisor, and Matt Dillon (“Dillon”), the
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Project Manager.  Employees Dillon, Tracey Brock, Manuel Cruz,

Paul Hawkins, Rick Tate, Toby Cowart, and Mike Cowart, among

other employees, were known by plaintiffs and Defendants to have

taken goods to their private homes or to sell off-base.

22. Materials paid for by the government but installed in

Defendants' and other employees' homes include, but are not

limited to, the following: front entry doors, originally

purchased for a general's home located on-base, were installed in 

Dillon’s home; cement was installed at Michael Cowart’s home; and

floor tile and fixtures initially purchased for on-base homes

were installed in homes of other Chugach employees off-base. 

23. Appliances, lawn care equipment, steam cleaners, swamp

coolers, power tools, power spray washers, plywood, roofing

materials and other tools were stolen and taken off-base by

Chugach employees.  These items were taken from the on-base

warehouse and were never returned. 

24. Each of the plaintiffs became aware of, and objected

to, the fraudulent conduct of Defendants.

25.  Plaintiff Malcomb obtained first-hand knowledge of the

fraudulent practices while she was temporarily working in the

Chugach billing department in Spring 2003.  On several occasions

she came across invoices in which items were billed to the Air

Force, but she knew those items had been shipped off-base to

private locations, such as Ridgecrest, California, where Matt

Dillon lived.  At that time, Malcomb questioned her supervisors,

Matt Dillon and Toby Cowart, about the invoices, but she was told

to do nothing.  These invoices were then processed by Dillon

and/or Cowart.  After discovering several of the invoices where
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items were billed to the Air Force but shipped off-base, she

continued to raise questions.  Shortly thereafter, in retaliation

for her questioning the fraud, Malcomb was transferred from the

billing department to the dispatcher’s desk. 

26. Plaintiff Mamula was employed by Chugach as the grounds

supervisor.  As part of his employment, Mamula kept track in a

hand-written log book of Air Force equipment that was borrowed

from the grounds department.  This was Mamula’s personal daily

log book that he was not required to keep as part of his

employment.  In or about October 2003, Matt Dillon, Mike Cowart,

and Rick Tate asked Mamula if he would change his log book to

reflect that the items they had borrowed were reported as lost or

stolen.  Mamula responded that he would not change his log book

records and that all equipment taken for personal use needed to

be returned.  Shortly thereafter, Mamula discovered that his

daily log book was missing from the warehouse.  Other than

Mamula, the only people who had keys to the warehouse were Matt

Dillon, Mike Cowart and Rick Tate.  Mamula immediately reported

to Mike Cowart that the warehouse had been broken into.  Cowart

responded that the records would likely turn up. 

27. Plaintiff Zuniga was personally instructed by Tracey

Brock to set tile at the home of Brock’s friend, Debbie

Gunderson, at 3625 Banyon Court in Rosamond, California.  Zuniga

had previously observed this same tile being loaded into Brock’s

vehicle and driven off-base. 

B. SENIOR CHUGACH MANAGEMENT'S KNOWLEDGE OF THE FRAUD 

28. As a result of the fraud that she observed in the

billing department, Malcomb personally reported the fraudulent
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activities to Defendant Mel Lynch, in December 2003.  Management

from Chugach, including Mel Lynch, Vice President Jim Russell

(“Russell”), and Human Resource personnel officer Lori Frost,

visited Edwards AFB to investigate the allegations of theft and

improper management practices that had been reported to Chugach.  

Malcomb was told by Toby Cowart, however, that investigator Frost

was a close friend, that Frost would reveal to Cowart all

communications made to Frost, and that the employees who made

such communications “would be handled and taken care of.” 

Malcomb was also told that employees friendly to on-base

management would be stationed adjacent to the interviews to

observe who met with Frost.  As such, Malcomb was concerned that

she would lose her job if she revealed the fraudulent practices

that she had personally observed to Frost.

29. Accordingly, Malcomb and her husband, Fred Malcomb, 

contacted Lynch and Russell and asked to meet with them off-base.

On or about January 24, 2004, Jacquelyn Malcomb, Fred Malcomb,

Lynch, and Russell met in the conference room of Lynch's and

Russell's hotel, outside of Edwards AFB, so that Malcomb could

speak freely about what she had witnessed.  She discussed the

fraudulent activities that she had observed while working in the

billing department and other illegal activities.  She also voiced

her concern that she was receiving threats from the individual

Defendants, who believed Malcomb was creating problems by

complaining about the fraud and calling the Chugach corporate

office.  Malcomb was told by Lynch that the Chugach corporate

office was aware of the fraud, would continue to investigate the

allegations of theft and fraudulent practices, and that her job
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was secure.  Despite these assurances, the fraud continued and

Malcomb was fired in March 2004.

30. Prior to her termination, Malcomb also reported the

fraudulent activities that she observed to the government,

through Ellen Jones, the base housing supervisor, and other

government housing office employees, including Charlotte White

and Paul Gaglyon.  During a meeting in March 2004, Malcomb gave

Ms. Jones approximately 10 color photographs depicting the inside

and outside of Michael Cowart’s home and the inside and outside

of Rick Tate’s home, evidencing goods taken from the base,

including roofing materials, doors, appliances, ceiling fans and

air conditioning units.

31. Similarly, when Mamula's daily log book recording the

stolen items became missing, he telephoned Lynch to report the

incident.  Lynch's and Chugach's response was to terminate Mamula

in November 2003.  The stolen items, and Mamula's daily log book,

were never returned.

     32.  After Zuniga advised Chugach management about the

fraud, accompanied by his wife, Donna, he met with Lori Frost

when she came to Edwards AFB.  Zuniga advised Frost about the

fraud and that photographs existed documenting the stolen items

in Chugach's employees' homes.  Frost asked Zuniga to sign a

statement promising that he would not discuss the fraud with

others.

33.  On or about January 13, 2004, in a group meeting

attended by Lynch, Russell, the individual Defendants (other than

Lori Frost), the plaintiffs, and other Chugach employees,

including approximately 70-80 individuals, Zuniga asked Chugach
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management what it intended to do about the theft of government

property.  Lynch replied that whatever items had been stolen up

to that point would be considered “a bonus” for the employees,

but that anything stolen from that point on could result in an

employee's termination.

34. Upon information and belief, Chugach was later forced

to repay the government for some of the items stolen by

Defendants and others.

C. Continued Evidence of Fraud

35. Before and after plaintiffs were terminated for

complaining to the government and Chugach about the fraud,

Defendants were aware that various items continued to be stolen

from the government.  Nonetheless, nothing was done to prevent

the fraud and the thefts continued.

36. After the plaintiffs were terminated for reporting the

fraud, plaintiffs filed a False Claims Act case and met with

federal prosecutors and government agents to provide information

regarding the fraud.  In describing the fraud, plaintiffs advised

the government that Chugach employee Paul Hawkins (“Hawkins”), an

appliance technician, continued to ask Zuniga on multiple

occasions if he was interested in purchasing goods stolen from

Edwards AFB.  Hawkins offered to obtain and sell such goods to

Zuniga because he was aware that Zuniga would shortly be

relocating to South Dakota and might need new appliances.

37. To help prove the on-going fraud, the government asked

Zuniga to wear a wire and to obtain video and audio recordings of

Hawkins selling the stolen appliances.  Working with FBI agents

assigned to the case, Zuniga agreed to do so.  He obtained such
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evidence, using marked money provided to Zuniga by the FBI to pay

for the stolen appliances.  

38. On January 4, 2007, Paul Hawkins was indicted by the

United States for stealing and selling government property, 

including six ceiling fans, three refrigerators, one stove, and

one dishwasher.

39. On July 27, 2007, Hawkins pleaded guilty to possession

of stolen government property and aiding and abetting, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 641 and 642.  The government thereafter

continued its criminal and civil investigation of fraud.

 D. Reprisal for Blowing the Whistle on Fraud

40. Relators incorporate by reference and reallege as

though fully set forth herein paragraphs 1 - 39 above.

41. As a result of informing Chugach management and the

government about the on-going fraud, plaintiffs were subjected by

Defendants to continued reprisals, harassment, and retaliation. 

Such conduct by Defendants included, but was not limited to,

denying plaintiffs safety equipment when working in hazardous

environments, threats from Defendants for reporting the fraud,

removal from certain jobs, and ultimately termination of

employment.  Mamula was terminated in November 2003.  Zuniga and

Malcomb were terminated in March 2004.  Shortly before her

termination, Malcomb was told by Chugach employee John Shartzer

that Toby Cowart stated that Malcomb “needed to watch her back.” 

Both Zuniga and Malcomb were told that they were being laid off

due to budget cutbacks.  However, shortly after they were

terminated, Chugach hired replacements for them.

42. Defendants engaged in wrongful conduct harmful to
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plaintiffs in threatening, harassing, retaliating and

discriminating against plaintiffs, and then wrongfully

discharging plaintiffs, because plaintiffs complained about and

attempted to stop the fraud.  As a direct and proximate result of

Defendants' conduct, plaintiffs sustained and continue to sustain

emotional distress, the loss of salary and benefits, as well as

interest thereon.  The plaintiffs also suffered damages,

including, but not limited to, relocation expenses, lost health

insurance premiums, and other valuable employee benefits.  The

actions of Defendants were carried out in a deliberate manner in

conscious disregard of the rights of plaintiffs and were

malicious, despicable and intended to harm plaintiffs. 

Count I

Tortious Discharge in Violation of Public Policy

43. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every

allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 42, above, as though

fully set forth herein.

44. In doing the things herein alleged, Defendants 

threatened, harassed and discriminated against plaintiffs in the

terms and conditions of their employment and ultimately

wrongfully terminated that employment.

45. Defendants' conduct was in violation of public policies

pursuant to various state and federal laws, and to punish

plaintiffs for their opposition to Defendants' fraudulent and

illegal practices. 

     Count II

Violation of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h)

46. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every
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allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 42, above, as though

fully set forth herein.

47. Through reporting, investigating, and attempting to

stop the fraudulent conduct of Defendants, plaintiffs were

threatened, discharged, and discriminated against in the terms

and conditions of their employment in violation of 31 U.S.C. §

3730 (h). 

Count III

Wrongful Termination in Violation of 
California Labor Code § 1102.5

48. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every

allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 42, above, as though

fully set forth herein.

49. Defendants retaliated against and discharged plaintiffs

for refusing to participate in the fraud and for disclosing

information on the fraud to a government employee.

50. In doing the things herein alleged, Defendants violated

California Labor Code § 1102.5 by retaliating against and

discharging plaintiffs.

Count IV

Breach of Implied Covenant
 of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

 

51. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every

allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 42, above, as though

fully set forth herein. 

52. In doing the things herein alleged, Defendants breached

the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing arising from

the terms and conditions of plaintiffs' employment.  All
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conditions of employment and all duties owed by plaintiffs to

Defendants were satisfied.  Nonetheless, through their conduct,

Defendants knowingly and with intent to harm plaintiffs breached

the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

Count V

Breach of Contract

53. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every

allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 42, above, as though

fully set forth herein. 

54. Plaintiffs satisfied all conditions and requirements in

performing work for Defendants under their contract of

employment.  Defendants, in doing the things herein alleged,

without cause and to punish plaintiffs, breached such contract

for employment.

Count VI

Violation of California Labor Code § 6310(b)

55. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every

allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 42, above, as though

fully set forth herein.

56. Defendants discriminated against plaintiffs and

discharged them due to plaintiffs' bona fide complaints about

unsafe working conditions.

57. In doing the things herein alleged, Defendants violated

California Labor Code § 6310(b).

Prayer

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs pray for judgment against the

Defendants, and each of them, as follows:

1. That this Court enter judgment against Defendants for
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the matters set forth herein; 

2. That, as a result of Defendants' wrongful conduct,

plaintiffs receive all damages and relief to which they are

entitled, including exemplary or punitive damages;

3. That plaintiffs be awarded all costs of this action,

including attorneys' fees and expenses; and

4. That plaintiffs recover such other and further relief

as the Court deems just and proper.

Demand for Jury Trial

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure,

plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury.

Dated:    HIRST & CHANLER LLP

By:_________________________
   Michael A. Hirst, Esq.
   Leslie S. Guillon, Esq. 
   Attorneys for Plaintiffs
   Alexi Zuniga, Jacquelyn     
   Malcomb, and James Mamula  
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